

## Nagle Pre-School Association Inc.

# Constitution 2012

## STATEMENT OF PURPOSES

## 1 NAME

The name of the Incorporated Association is NAGLE PRE- SCHOOL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED

## 2 **PURPOSES**

The purposes for which the Incorporated Association is established are:

- (a) To provide a preschool programme and/or other children's services which will function in accordance with the guidelines and requirements of the Department of Human Services or such other Government authority or department as from time to time carries out those functions.
- (b) To take over the funds and other assets and liabilities of the present

  Association known as Nagle Pre School solely for the intention of carrying out
  the above mentioned purposes and not otherwise.
- (c) The predominant purpose of this Association is charitable. No individual member of the Association will take personal profit merely from membership of the Association.

#### STANDARD RULES

#### 1. NAME

The name of the Association is NAGLE PRESCHOOL ASSOCIATION INCORPORATED.

## 2. INTERPRETATION

2.1 In these Rules unless the contrary intention appears:

"Association" means Nagle Preschool Association Incorporated.

"Committee meeting" means a meeting of the Committee

"Department" means the Department of Education and Early Childhood Development or such other government department or agency as from time to time monitors the provision of appropriate and quality children's services

"Committee" means the Committee of Management of the Association elected in accordance with these Rules.

"Electronic voting paper "means notification of a vote on a question by way of email or other electronic means.

"Fee" means any monies payable by members of the Association, including child attendance fees and annual or joining subscriptions.

"Financial year" means the year ending on 30th September

"General Meeting" means a general meeting of members convened in accordance with these Rules and does not include a Committee meeting "Member" means a member of the Association.

"Officer" means the President, Vice President, Secretary or Treasurer

"The Act" means the Associations Incorporation Act 1981

"The Regulations" means the Regulations under the Act

"Relevant documents" means records or other documents, however compiled, recorded or stored, that relates to the incorporation and management of an incorporated association, including membership records, accounts, accounting records and documents relating to transactions, dealings, business or property of the Association.

- 2.2 The Public Officer shall be the Secretary of the Association elected in accordance with these Rules or such other person as appointed by the Committee.
- 2.3 Words or expressions contained in these Rules shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of the *Interpretation of Legislation Act* 1984 and the Act as in force from time to time.

#### 3. MEMBERSHIP

The members of the Association shall comprise of:

- (a) The parents or legal guardians of the children attending the children's service managed by the Association or on the waiting list; and
- (b) Any interested citizen approved by the Committee of Management who pays an annual subscription of not less than one dollar and is approved for membership by the Committee for the current financial year. Renewal of this membership is at the discretion of the Committee. This annual subscription and entrance fee, if any may be set by the committee at a committee meeting

#### 4. REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Secretary shall keep and maintain a register of members in which shall be entered the full name, address and date of entry of the name of each member. At the request of a member a list of member names shall be available for inspection from the Public Officer. However, further details shall only be made available at the discretion of the Committee.

## 5. FINANCE AND BUILDING FUND

- 5.1 Finance shall be obtained from any fees, endowments, grants, public subscriptions, donations, voluntary contributions, fund raising efforts and such other sources as the Committee determines.
- The Association is authorised to establish an Australian Taxation Office (ATO) endorsed Deductible Gift Recipient (DGR) Building Fund (Building Fund). Building Fund tax deductible gifts or contributions will be spent on the Association's building, or buildings, in accordance with the DGR provisions applicable at the time of expenditure.
- In the event the Association is Wound Up in accordance with the procedures set out in the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 (Act) or has its DGR endorsement revoked, (whichever occurs first), it shall transfer all Building Fund remaining gifts, deductible contributions and any money received in respect of such gifts and contributions to another endorsed Deductible Gift Recipient (Second Organisation).
- The Second Organisation referred to in Rule 5.3 shall be selected by the members of the Association at a special general meeting of members called for that purpose and if for any reason no such selection is made within thirty days after payment of all debts and liabilities of the Association, then the Second Organisation shall be selected by the appropriate legislative authority.

## 6. AUTHORISATION TO TRADE

The Association is authorised to trade in accordance with section 51(4) of the Associations Incorporation Act 1981.

## 7. RESIGNATION OF A MEMBER

- 7.1 A member of the Association who has paid all fees or other monies due and payable by that person to the Association may resign from the Association by giving one month's notice in writing to the Secretary of the member's intention to resign. Upon the expiration of that period of notice, the member shall cease to be a member.
- 7.2 Upon the expiration of a notice given under rule 7.1, the Secretary shall make in the register of members an entry recording the date on which the member, by whom notice was given, ceased to be a member.
- 7.3 A member of the Association under rule 3(a) who no longer has a child or children attending the preschool location or on the waiting list shall be deemed to have resigned and the Secretary shall make in the register of members an entry recording the date in which the member has ceased to be a member.
- 7.4 A member of the Association under 3(b) who has not paid the annual subscription within one month following the annual general meeting shall be deemed to have resigned and the Secretary shall make in the register of members an entry recording the date on which the member has ceased to be a member.

## 8. EXPULSION OF A MEMBER

- 8.1 Subject to these Rules, the Committee may by resolution:
  - (a) Expel a member from the Association;
  - (b) Suspend a member from membership of the Association for a specified period; or
  - (c) Fine a member in accordance with the Regulations not more than twenty dollars, if the Committee is of the opinion that the member has refused or neglected to comply with these Rules, or has been guilty of conduct that is unbecoming of a member or prejudicial to the interests of the Association.
- 8.2 Upon the passing of a resolution by the Committee under rule 8.1, the Secretary shall, as soon as is practicable, ensure that the member is served with a notice in writing:
  - (a) Setting out the resolution of the Committee and the grounds on which it is based;

- (b) Stating that the member may address the Committee at a meeting to be held not earlier than fourteen and not earlier than twenty eight days after service of the notice:
- (c) Stating the date, place and time of that meeting; and
- (d) Informing the member that they may do one or more of the following:
  - (i) Attend that meeting;
  - (ii) Give the Committee before the date of that meeting a written statement seeking the revocation of the resolution;
  - (iii) Not later than twenty-four hours before the day of the meeting, lodge with the Secretary a notice to the effect that the member wishes to appeal to the Association in a general meeting against the resolution.
- 8.3 A resolution of the Committee under rule 8.1 does not take effect unless:
  - (a) The Committee, at a meeting held not earlier than fourteen and not later than twenty-eight days after the service on the member of a notice under rule 8.2, confirms the resolution in accordance with this clause; and
  - (b) The Association confirms the resolution in accordance with this clause, in cases in which the member exercises a right to appeal to the Association under this clause.
- 8.4 At a meeting of the Committee held in accordance with rule 8.3, the Committee shall:
  - (a) Give to the member an opportunity to be heard;
  - (b) Give consideration to any written statement submitted by the member;
  - (c) Determine by resolution whether to confirm or to revoke the resolution.
- 8.5 Upon receipt by the Secretary of a member's notice under rule 8.2(d)(iii), the Secretary shall notify the Committee. The Committee shall convene a general meeting of the Association to be held within twenty-eight days after the date on which the Secretary receives the notice.
- 8.6 At a general meeting of the Association convened under rule 8.5:
  - (a) No business other than the question of the appeal shall be transacted;
  - (b) The Committee may place before the meeting details of the grounds of the resolution and the reasons for the passing of the resolution;
  - (c) The member shall be given a opportunity to be heard; and
  - (d) The members present shall vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the resolution should be confirmed or revoked.
- 8.7 If at the general meeting:
  - (a) A minimum of two-thirds of the members vote in person in favour of the confirmation of the resolution, the resolution is confirmed; and

(b) In any other case, the resolution is revoked.

## 9. GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

## 9.1 Objective

The objective of the Grievance Procedure is to resolve any disputes under the rules between:

- (a) A member and another member; or
- (b) A member and the incorporated association.

## 9.2 Grievance Sub Committee:

A Grievance Sub Committee will be established to investigate and facilitate the resolution of any disputes of the nature described above. The Grievance Sub Committee shall comprise three persons drawn from the Committee of which one will be the President. The Committee may change the composition of the Sub Committee at any time provided the Sub Committee remains constituted by Committee members.

#### 9.3 Grievance Officer

A Grievance Officer will be appointed from the Grievance Sub Committee. The role of the Grievance Officer is to receive any grievances submitted to the Committee and to ensure the procedure described below is carried out.

## 9.4 Procedure

- 9.4.1 A member may initiate a grievance in respect of a dispute of a type described above by reducing the grievance to writing and lodging it with the Grievance Officer.9.4.2 Upon receipt of the grievance, the Grievance Officer must call a meeting of the Grievance Sub Committee within 14 days.
- 9.4.3 Prior to the meeting the Grievance Officer must investigate the grievance including interviewing any persons whom may be the grievance or have some knowledge relevant to it.
- 9.4.4 The parties to the dispute must meet and discuss the matter in dispute, and, if possible, resolve the dispute within 14 days after the dispute comes to the attention of all the parties.
- 9.4.5 The Grievance Sub Committee must decide whether any action under the rules or otherwise should be taken arising from the grievance and advise the Committee of such action.

- 9.4.6 The Committee at the next scheduled meeting, may confirm, modify, or reject the decision of the Grievance Sub Committee.

  The decision of the Committee will be final.
- 9.4.7 All parties to the dispute including the member who lodged the grievance must be advising in writing of the Committee's decision.

## 9.5 Proviso:

This procedure is not intended to alter a member's right arising out of any other rules under the Constitution.

#### 10. GENERAL MEETINGS

All general meetings other than the annual general meeting shall be called special general meetings.

## 11. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETINGS

- 11.1 The Association shall in each calendar year convene an annual general meeting of its members at a date and time determined by the Committee.
- 11.2 The annual general meeting shall be held within the three months following the end of the financial year.
- 11.3 The annual general meeting shall be specified as such in the notice convening it.
- 11.4 The ordinary business of the annual general meeting shall be:
  - (a) To confirm the minutes of the last preceding annual general meeting and of any general meeting held since that meeting;
  - (b) To receive from the Committee written reports upon the activities and operations of the Association during the last preceding financial year;
  - (c) To receive and consider the statement submitted by the Association in accordance with section 30(3) of the Act. This statement contains particulars of the Association's income and expenditure, assets and liabilities, mortgages, charges and securities and trusts. The statement must give a true and fair view of the financial position of the incorporated association during and at the end of its last financial year and be accompanied by the auditor's report referred to in rule 32.5;
  - (d) To elect members of the Committee;
  - (e) to appoint an auditor; and
  - (f) to confirm the Public Officer.
- 11.5 The annual general meeting may transact special business of which notice is given in accordance with rule 13.

- 11.6 The annual general meeting shall be in addition to any other general meetings that may be held in the same year.
- 11.7 Ten members personally present, being members entitled to vote at a general meeting as defined by rule 16.7, constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the annual general meeting.

#### 12. SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS

- 12.1 The Committee may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a special general meeting of the Association.
- 12.2 The Committee shall, on the requisition in writing of seven members, convene a special general meeting of the Association.
- 12.3 The request for a special general meeting must:
  - (a) State the objects of the meeting; and
  - (b) Be signed by the members requesting the meeting; and
  - (c) Be sent to the address of the Secretary by way of ordinary post or electronic mail if available.
- 12.4 If the Committee does not cause a special general meeting to be held within one month after the date on which the requisition is sent to the address of the Secretary, the members making the requisition, or any of them, may convene a special general meeting to be held not later than three months after that date.
- 12.5 A special general meeting convened by members in accordance with rule 12.4 shall be convened in the same manner as nearly as possible as that in which those meetings are convened by the Committee. The Association shall refund all reasonable expenses incurred in convening the meeting to the persons incurring the expenses.

## 13. NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

- 13.1 Annual general and special general meetings of the Association shall be advertised by the Secretary at least twenty one days before the date fixed for holding such meeting. Advertisement/notice shall be in a newspaper circulating generally in the district and/or by any other appropriate means. The advertisement/notice shall state the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at the meeting.
- 13.2 No business other than that set out in the advertisement/notice convening the meeting shall be transacted at the meeting.
- 13.3 A member desiring to bring any business before a meeting may give notice of that business in writing to the Secretary, who shall include that business in the advertisement/notice calling the next general meeting after the receipt of the notice.

#### 14. NOTICES

- 14.1 With the exceptions of the provisions of rule 13.1 and rule 20.9, all notices shall be served by or on behalf of the Association upon any member personally or by sending it by post to the member at their postal address or by way of electronic mail sent to the member's electronic mail address as shown in the register of members
- 14.2 In the case of a document being properly addressed, pre-paid and posted to a person as a letter, the document shall, unless the contrary is proved, be deemed to have been given to the person at the time at which the letter would have been delivered in the ordinary course of the post.
- 14.3 In the case of a document being properly addressed and forwarded by way of electronic mail, the documents shall, unless the contrary is proved, be deemed to have been given to the person 24 hours after the time it was forwarded by electronic mail by the sender.

## 15. PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

- 15.1 All business that is transacted at either a special general meeting or the annual general meeting, with the exception of business specifically referred to in these Rules as being the ordinary business of the annual general meeting, shall be deemed to be special business. This business shall be known to members as such, in accordance with rule 13.
- 15.2 No item of business shall be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of members entitled under these Rules to vote is present during the time when the meeting is considering that item.
- 15.3 Seven members personally present, being members entitled under rule 16.7 to vote at a general meeting and comprising of at least three officers of the Association, constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a general meeting.
- 15.4 If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of a general meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting will not continue at that date, time and place. If the meeting was convened upon the requisition of members, it shall be dissolved. In any other case the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week at the same time and (unless another place is specified by the Chairperson at the time of the adjournment, or by written notice to members given before

- the day to which the meeting is adjourned) at the same place. If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is still not present within half an hour after the time appointed for the commencement of the meeting, the members present (being not less than seven) shall constitute a quorum.
- 15.5 The President, or in their absence, the Vice President, shall preside as Chairperson at each general meeting of the Association.
- 15.6 If the President and Vice President are absent from a general meeting, the members present shall elect one of their number to preside as Chairperson at the meeting.
- 15.7 The Chairperson of the general meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent of the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and place to place, but no business shall be transacted at an adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting at which the adjournment took place.
- 15.8 In the case of rules 15.4 and 15.7, it is not necessary to give notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting. However, if the meeting is adjourned for fourteen days or more, a like notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of the general meeting.

## 16. VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

- 16.1 A question arising at a general meeting of the Association, other a meeting held pursuant to paragraph 8.5 shall be determined by a majority of members who vote in person and where proxies are allowed, by proxy at that meeting unless a poll is demanded. A poll may be demanded either before or on the declaration of the show of hands. A declaration by the Chairperson that a resolution has, , been:
  - (a) Carried by a particular majority;
  - (b) Carried unanimously; or
  - (c) Lost,

And an entry made to that effect in the Minute Book of the Association, is evidence of the resolution. Proof of the number or proportion of the voters recorded in favour or against the resolution is not needed.

16.2 A general meeting held pursuant to paragraph 8.5 shall be determined by a show of hands unless a poll is demanded. A poll may be demanded

either before or on the declaration of the show of hands. A declaration by the Chairperson that a resolution has, been:

- (d) Carried by a particular majority;
- (e) Carried unanimously: or
- (f) Lost,

And an entry made to that effect in the Minute Book of the Association, is evidence of the resolution. Proof of the number or proportion of the voters recorded in favour or against the resolution is not needed.

- 16.3 Upon any question arising at a general meeting of the Association, each member has one vote only.
- 16.4 A member shall be entitled to appoint in writing a natural person who is also a member of the Association to be their proxy and attend and vote at any general meeting of the Association other than a general meeting held pursuant to paragraph 8.5.
- 16.5 In the case of equality in the voting of a question, the Chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a second or casting vote.
- 16.6 If at a meeting a poll on any question is demanded by not less than three members, it shall be taken at that meeting in such manner as the Chairperson may direct. The resolution of the poll shall be deemed to be a resolution of the meeting on that question.
- 16.7 A poll that is demanded on the election of a Chairperson or on a question of an adjournment shall be taken forthwith and a poll that is demanded on any other question shall be taken at such time before the close of the meeting as the Chairperson may direct.
- 16.8 A member is not entitled to vote at any general meeting unless all monies due and payable by that person to the Association have been paid, other than the amount of the annual subscription payable in respect of the current financial year.

#### 17. COMMITTEE OF MANAGEMENT

- 17.1 A Committee of Management elected in accordance with these Rules shall manage the affairs of the Association.
- 17.2 The Committee:
  - (a) Shall control and manage the business and affairs of the Association;
  - (b) May, subject to these Rules, the Regulations and the Act, exercised all the powers and functions available to the Association with the exception of those powers and functions that are required by these

Rules to be exercised by general meetings of members of the Association:

- (c) Has power, subject to these Rules, the Regulations and the Act, to perform all such acts and things that appears to the Committee to be essential for the proper management of the business and affairs of the Association; and
- (d) Shall prepare an annual report containing an account of the activities and operations of the Association during the financial year. This report shall be submitted in writing to the annual general meeting.
- 17.3 The Committee of Management shall consist of
  - (a) A President;
  - (b) A Vice President;
  - (c) A Treasurer;
  - (d) A Secretary; and
  - (e) Up to (a maximum of) eighteen ordinary members of the Committee

Rule 22 refers to the appointment of a Public Officer.

- 17.4 Each officer of the Association shall hold office until the annual general meeting next after the date of his or her election but is eligible for re-election. After the annual general meeting, each officer of the Association will act in a caretaker position of that office until a committee meeting to be held no later than 28 days after the annual general meeting at which each officer will relinquish his or her position to the person elected to that position at the annual general meeting.
- 17.5 A member or former member of the Committee of an Incorporated Association must not knowingly or recklessly make improper use of:
  - (a) His or her position in the Incorporated Association; or
  - (b) Information acquired by virtue of his or her position;

To gain, directly or indirectly, any financial benefit or material advantage for himself or herself or for any other person, or to cause a detriment to the Incorporated Association.

- 17.6 No member of the Committee shall be appointed to or retain any paid office of the Association while that person is a member of the Committee. This rule shall not apply in respect of a situation where the services of a relief staff member cannot be immediately obtained and a suitably qualified/police checked member of the Committee is appointed to that position for temporary relief purposes.
- 17.7 For the purposes of Rule 17(6) "temporary relief" shall mean an appointment not exceeding a maximum of six (6) consecutive sessions at

- a time. Appointment of a member of the Committee beyond six consecutive sessions will require that member to resign from the Committee.
- 17.8 No member of the Committee shall directly or indirectly supply goods or services to the Association in the case of such goods or services being satisfactorily obtained elsewhere locally.
  - 17.8.1 Any member of the Committee who has a financial interest in any contract or arrangement made or proposed to be made with the Association shall disclose their interest to the Committee and in the financial statements submitted to the next annual general meeting. This shall be done at the first meeting of the Committee at which the contract or arrangement is first taken into consideration, if that member's interest that exists. In any other case, the member shall disclose the interest at the first meeting of the Committee after the acquisition of that member's interest. If the member becomes interested in a contract or arrangement after it is made or entered into, the member shall disclose their interest at the first meeting after the member becomes interested.
  - 17.8.2 Failure of a member to reveal a financial interest in any contract or arrangement with the Association may result in the implementation of rule 8.1 by the Committee. No member of the Committee shall vote on any contract or arrangement in which they are interested. If the member does so vote, that

person's vote shall not be counted.

## 18. ELECTION OF COMMITTEE OF MANAGEMENT

- 18.1 All members of the Committee shall be elected at the annual general meeting. They shall be elected for a period of one year and subject to paragraph 17.4 shall retire at the annual general meeting next year following. However, members shall be eligible for re-election.
- 18.2. Nominations of candidates for election as members of the Committee shall be:
  - (a) Made in writing, signed by two members of the Association and accompanied by the written consent of the candidate (which may be endorsed on the form of nomination); and

- (1) A show of hands by members of the Committee personally present at the meeting or who have been appointed proxy by a member of the Committee who is not personally present at the meeting; and
- (2) Written or electronic voting papers sent to the Secretary prior to the meeting where the question has been provided in writing to the members of the Committee prior to the meeting at which it is to be determined

unless a member demands a poll. If a poll is demanded, it shall be taken in a manner determined by the person presiding at the meeting.

- 20.8 A member shall be entitled to appoint in writing a natural person who is also a member of the Association to be their proxy and attend and vote at any meeting of the Committee other than a meeting held in accordance with paragraph 8.3.
- 20.9 Upon any question arising at a meeting of the Committee, other than in a meeting held in accordance with paragraph 8.3 each member of the Committee present personally, by proxy or who has sent a written or electronic voting paper has one vote only. In the event of an equality of votes on any question, the person presiding may exercise a second or casting vote.
- 20.10 A Committee meeting held pursuant to paragraphs 8.3 and 8.4 shall be determined by a show of hands unless a poll is demanded. A poll may be demanded either before or on the declaration of the show of hands.

#### 21 SUB COMMITTEES

- 21.1 The Committee may appoint Sub-Committees, whose membership shall be drawn from members of the Committee, members of the Association or other interested persons. Sub-Committees may be appointed for staff selection, fund raising, social and other similar purposes. Members of such sub-committees shall have voting rights only within the Sub-Committee to which they have been appointed or elected.
- 21.2 The quorum for meetings of a sub-committee shall be one third of its members, but no less than two. The Committee will determine the Chairperson and powers of delegation of each Sub Committee.

## 22. ROLE OF OFFICE BEARERS

## 22.1 Secretary

The Secretary of the Association shall ensure that:

- (a) minutes of the resolutions and proceedings of each general meeting and each committee meeting are kept in books provided for that purpose;
- (b) the names of persons present at Committee meetings are recorded:
- (c) motions are dealt with as directed;
- (d) members are notified of meetings; and
- (e) correspondence in and out is recorded.

## 22.2 President

The role of the President is to:

- (a) chair Committee and general meetings
- (b) act as official spokesperson for the Association;
- (c) co-ordinate Committee activities.
- (d) Ensure that Committee members fulfil their roles.
- (e) Ensure that there is effective communication between the Committee members, members of the Association and staff; and
- (f) Any other task deemed by the Committee

#### 22.3 Public Officer

The Public Officer of the Association is responsible under the Act and the Regulations for the following:

- (a) notifying the Registrar of Incorporated Associations of
  - (i) their appointment to the position of Public Officer, within fourteen days of the appointment;
  - (ii) a change of address of the Public Officer, withi9n fourteen days;
  - (iii) any amendments to the Rules or Statement of Purposes of the Association, within one month of the ratification of

- (b) Delivered to the Secretary of the Association prior to or on the date fixed for the holding of the annual general meeting.
  - 18.2.2 If insufficient nominations are received to fill all vacancies on the Committee, the candidates nominated shall be deemed to be elected and further nominations shall be received at the annual general meeting.
  - 18.2.3 If the number of nominations received is equal to the number of vacancies to be filled, the persons nominated shall be deemed to be elected.
  - 18.2.4 If the number of nominations exceeds the number of vacancies a ballot shall be held.
  - 18.2.5 The ballot for the election of officers and ordinary members of the Committee shall be conducted at the annual general meeting in a systematic and proper manner, as directed by the Committee.
  - 18.2.6 A nomination of a candidate for election under this rule is still valid if that candidate has been nominated for another office at the same election. However, that candidate is only eligible to hold one office, and must choose or be assigned to one or another of the offices, as directed by the Committee.
- 18.3 For the purposes of these rules, the office of a member of the Committee becomes vacant if that member:
  - (a) Ceases to be a member of the Association;
  - (b) Becomes an insolvent under administration within the meaning of the Corporations law;
  - (c) Resigns their office by notice in writing given to the Secretary; or
  - (d) Is absent for three consecutive meetings without acceptable reason or leave of absence and every such vacancy shall be deemed a casual vacancy.
- 18.4 In the event of a casual vacancy occurring during the year, the Committee shall have the power to appoint a new member from the members of the Association. Any person so appointed shall hold office until the next annual general meeting only, but shall be eligible for election to that office at that time.

## 19. REMOVAL OF A MEMBER OF THE COMMITTEE

19.1 The Association in general meeting may by resolution remove any member of the Committee before the expiration of the member's term of office. In this situation, the Association may appoint another member in

- that person's stead, to hold office until the expiration of the term of the first mentioned member.
- 19.2 A Committee member to whom a proposed resolution refers in rule 19.1 may choose to make representations in writing to the Secretary or President of the Association (not exceeding a reasonable length), and may request that these representations be brought to the attention of the members of the Association. In this case, the Secretary or the President shall send a copy of the representation to each member of the Association. If the representations are not so sent, the member may require that they be read at the meeting.

## 20. PROCEEDINGS OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS

- 20.1 The Committee shall at meet at least once each month except the month of January, at the Preschool location or at a place otherwise determined by the Committee.
- 20.2 Special meetings of the Committee may be convened by the President or by any four of the members of the Committee. If deemed necessary these meetings may occur within 24 hours notice if a guorum is present.
- 20.3 Notice shall be given to members of the Committee of any special meeting, specifying the general nature of the business to be transacted. No other business shall be transacted at the special meeting.
- 20.4 Any four members of the Committee, at least three of whom are officers, constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a meeting of the Committee. Subject to this, the Committee may act regardless of any vacancy on the Committee.
- 20.5 No business shall be transacted unless a quorum is present. If within half an hour of the time appointed for the monthly Committee meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting shall be adjourned to the same place and at the same hour of the same day in the following week. However, in the case of a special meeting lacking sufficient members to form a quorum, the meeting lapses.
- 20.6 At meetings of the Committee:
  - (a) The President, or in their absence, the Vice President, shall preside; or
  - (b) In the event that the President and the Vice President are absent, one of the remaining members of the Committee shall preside. The Members present at the meeting shall choose the presiding member.
- 20.7 Questions arising at a meeting of the Committee, other than a Committee meeting held in accordance with paragraph 8.3, or of any Sub-Committee appointed by the Committee shall be determined by a vote taken by:

- the [proposed amendments by the Association in a general meeting;
- (iv) the passing of a special resolution by the Association regarding the disposal of surplus assets after winding up in accordance with the Act, within one (1) month of the passing of the resolution.
- (b) applying to the Registrar of Incorporated Associations for approval of any desired change of name, in accordance with the Regulations;
- (c) lodging with the Registrar:
  - (i) the documents required in respect of the annual general meeting, within one month of the date of the meeting (unless further time is granted by the Registrar);
  - (ii) details about any trust and a copy of any deed or other instrument creating or embodying that trust, upon the Association becoming a trustee of that trust, within fourteen days.
- (d) producing any book for the Registrar or his/her authorised officer on being required to do so, and telling the Registrar or his/her authorised officer where a book is at the time a request is made;
- (e) ensuring that the Registrar or his/her authorised officer is not hindered or obstructed in any way while that person is making an inspection of any part of the Association, in accordance with the Act.

#### 22.4 Treasurer

- 22.4.1 The Treasurer of the Association shall be responsible for:
- (a) overseeing the collection and receipt of all monies due to the Association and the issue of official receipts;
- (b) the deposit, within 5 working days, of all monies collected and received, to the credit of the Association in a financial institution determined from time to time by the Committee;
- (c) the payment of all accounts which have been authorised for payment by the Committee;
- (d) a proper record of all receipts and payments; and

- (e) the submission of a financial report to each monthly Committee meeting.
- 22.4.2 The Treasurer shall keep correct accounts and books showing the financial affairs of the Association, with full details of all receipts and expenditure connected with the activities of the Association.
- 22.4.3 The accounts and books referred to in rule 22.4.2 shall be available for inspection by members
- 22.4.4 An audit is required once per calendar year and must audit from the last period of audit.

## 23. PAYMENTS

- 23.1 All payments must be made by cheque, electronic funds transfer or periodic debit and payment shall only be made with the authority of the Committee.
- 23.2 All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable instruments shall be signed by any two of the following positions: President, Treasurer, Secretary, and Vice President, all of which will be registered with the financial institution. The payee of all cheques shall be designated before the cheque is signed.
- 23.3 The Committee may give authorisation in writing to any person to have access to the Association's accounts and books, including electronic access to the bank accounts held in the name of the Association with any financial institution
- 23.4 The Committee may give authorisation in writing to any person to pay accounts by way of electronic funds transfer from bank accounts held in the name of the Association with any financial institution.
- 23.5 Payment of accounts pursuant to paragraph 23.4 must first be authorised for payment by the Committee.

## 24. DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS

- 24.1 The assets and income of the Association shall be used solely for the objectives and purposes of the Association. No portion shall be distributed directly or indirectly to its members except as bona fide compensation for services rendered or expenses incurred on behalf of the Association.
- 24.2 The Association shall charge in favour of the Secretary to the Department of Human Services of the State of Victoria all assets it acquires using funds provided by the Department of Human Services of the State of Victoria, and, where there is provision, shall register that charge as provided by law.

## 25. SEAL AND ASSOCIATION REGISTRATION NUMBER

- 25.1 The common seal of the Association shall be kept in the custody of the Secretary.
- 25.2 The common seal shall not be affixed to any document or instrument except by the authority of the Committee. The affixing of the Common Seal shall be attested to by the signatures of either two members of the Committee or of one member of the Committee and of the Public Officer of the Association.
- 25.3 The name of an Incorporated Association must appear in legible characters on its common seal, in all notices, advertisements and official publications of the association and in all its business documents.
- 25.4 The registration number of an incorporated association specified in its Certificate of Incorporation must appear in legible characters in all notices, advertisements, official publications of the Association and in all its business documents.

## 26. ALTERATION OF RULES AND STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

- 26.1 Any alterations to these Rules and Statement of Purpose shall be made in accordance with the Act.
- 26.2 The Committee shall decide upon any proposed alteration to these Rules and the Statement of Purpose of the Association. Following this, the proposed alterations shall be ratified by the Association in a general meeting and shall be submitted to the Registrar of Incorporations for approval and processing.
- 26.3 A copy of the approved amended Rules and/or Statement of Purpose of the Association shall be sent to the regional office of the Department for inclusion on centre records.

26.4 No alteration shall be made to rule 6 or 29 without the consent of the Minister.

#### 27. WINDING UP

- 27.1 The Association may be wound up voluntarily in accordance with the Act, with the consent of three-fourths of those present at a special general meeting of members called specifically for that purpose.
- 27.2 If upon winding up or dissolution of the Association there remains, after payment of all debts and liabilities, any assets or property whatsoever, the remaining assets shall not be paid or distributed to any member of the Association. These assets or properties shall be given or transferred to some other tax exempt organisation that:
  - (a) has objectives and purposes similar to the objectives and purposes of the Association; and
  - (b) shall prohibit the distribution of its income and property amongst its members to an extent at least as great as that imposed on the Association under these Rules.

Such organisation is to be determined by the members of the Association.

27.3 On completion of these actions, a copy of the liquidator's account showing the final distribution of assets and a nil balance is to be forwarded to the Department.

#### 28. ANNUAL RETURNS

Within one month following the annual general meeting each year, the Association shall give:

- (a) A copy of the annual report received under rules 11.4(b) and (c) and a list of the names and addresses of the members of the Committee elected under rule 11.4(d) to the regional Children's Services Adviser, as a representative of the Department; and
- (b) A copy of the statement received under rule 11.4(c) to the Registrar of Incorporate Associations in accordance with the Act.

## 29. CUSTODY OF RECORDS

- 29.1 Except as otherwise provided in these Rules, the Secretary shall keep in his/her custody or under his/her control all books, documents and securities of the Association.
- 29.2 All accounts, books, securities and any other relevant documents of the Association shall be available for inspection free of charge, at the service by any member upon request, with the exception of confidential documents relating to staff, parents and children of the service.

## 30. AUDITOR

- 30.1 An Auditor or Auditors shall be appointed by the Committee each year and shall hold office until the next annual general meeting. In the event of a casual vacancy in the office of Auditor the Committee may temporarily appoint to such office some person qualified to hold the same, and the person so appointed may continue in office until the next annual general meeting.
- 30.2 The Committee shall determine the fees and expenses of the Auditor.
- 30.3 The Auditor shall have access to the books and accounts of the Association at all times and shall make such reports as he/she considers necessary direct to the Committee.
- 30.4 The Auditor shall be a qualified accountant and must be registered as a company auditor, a member of the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants or the Institute of Chartered Accountants.
- 30.5 The Auditor shall prepare a report to the members for the Annual general Meeting and shall state in his/her report whether in his/her opinion:
  - (a) the balance sheet (with notes thereto) and statement of income and expenditure are properly drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of the Association's financial affairs at the end of the financial year (or other date appropriate to the period covered by the balance sheet and statement) and of the financial results for its services for the period ended on that date;
  - (b) the accounting and other records examined by him/her have been properly maintained as required by the Act.
- 30.6 The Auditor may, if he/she considered it desirable to do so, make a report direct to the members in general meeting and to the relevant government departments on any other matter coming within the scope of his/her duties. If the Auditor makes such a report, he/she shall at the same time submit a copy thereof to the Committee for their information.

President: DO O O

t 8 f F in the gram ellers that colored I server that there is a finisher

Vice President:

Secretary:

Treasurer: Paul Const

Date: 16/06/2022